King International Investment Limited

FTEIBBRRERTRLQ T

(formerly known as Life Healthcare Group Limited & FIl 5% (i 5 2] 7[R 2\ 7))
(HREISEEAME LB RL E])

Stock Code Bzf{7{{H% 100928

* ° L Wﬁi -

By

-

2024

ANNUAL REPORT
FEHE



Corporate Information

Management Discussion and Analysis

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
Directors’ Report

Corporate Governance Report

Independent Auditor’'s Report

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Five Year Financial Summary

RAE R

EREA BRI

ESNEREBERERE

EEERS

f@%a/ﬂﬁi

BUZAGRSE

FIEBREARAA
2024 £ FERS

Contents
B &%

30
36
58
84

95

97
99
100
102

184

\\ A\



i o

King International Investment Limited

Annual Report 2024

Corporate Information
NEEHR

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Mengyao (Chairman) (appointed on 9 August 2023,
re-designated as Co Chairman on 28 December 2023 and
re-designated as Chairman on |9 January 2024)

Mr. Liu Mingqing (Co-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 22 August 2023,
re-designated as Chairman on |8 December 2023 and
re-designated as Co Chairman on 28 December 2023)

Mr. Lu Xingwu (appointed on 28 December 2023)

Mr. Gu Jianguo (appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director
on 22 August 2023 and re-designated as Executive Director
on 19 March 2024)

Mr. Man Wai Lun

Mr. Pang Zhen

Ms. Yan Ming (appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director
on 23 August 2023 and re-designated as Executive Director
on 19 March 2024)

Mr. Yuan Limin (resigned on 23 August 2023)

Mr. Huang Zhi fang (resigned on 24 July 2023)

Mr. Long Jinbo (appointed on 18 December 2023 and resigned
on 19 March 2024)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. Yang Xilin (appointed on 23 August 2023)

Mr. Lou Tao (appointed on 18 December 2023)

Mr. Zheng Yu (appointed on 19 March 2024)
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
Ms. Yang Xilin (Chairman) (appointed on 23 August 2023)

Mr. Zheng Yu (appointed on 19 March 2024)
Mr. Wang Zhenyu (appointed on 19 March 2024)

Mr. Gu Jianguo (appointed on 22 August 2023 and
resigned on |9 March 2024)

Dr. Wang, Bruce Xianliang (resigned on 23 August 2023)

Dr. Zhao, Shawn Xiaohong (resigned on 23 August 2023)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Ms. Yang Xilin (Chairman) (appointed on 23 August 2023 and

re-designated as Chairman on |9 March 2024)
Mr. Zheng Yu (appointed on 19 March 2024)
Mr. Gu Jianguo (appointed on 22 August 2023)

Ms. Yan Ming (appointed on 23 August 2023 and
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Dr. Wang, Bruce Xianliang (resigned on 23 August 2023)
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Mr. Zheng Yu (Chairman) (appointed on |9 March 2024)
Ms. Yang Xilin (appointed on 23 August 2023)

Mr. Man Wai Lun

Mr. Gu Jianguo (appointed on 22 August 2023 and
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Dr. Wang, Bruce Xianliang (resigned on 23 August 2023)
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEN W& DM

On behalf of King International Investment Limited (the “Company”),
| present to the shareholders the results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended
31 March 2024.

OVERVIEW

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) are principally engaged in healthcare products
and services business, money lending business and sales of liquor Business.

On one hand, the Company, through its subsidiaries, provides medical
supplies including medical thermometers, masks, protective clothing,
disinfectant, virus testing kits and reagents, breathing machines and other
medical products, and also provides value-added services in respect of the
procurement of such medical supplies and products including providing
market intelligence, sourcing of bids, comparative assessment of technical
specifications and cost analysis, and negotiation of terms of supply.

The Group is committed to developing domestic healthcare equipment
service business. Taking advantage of its own advantages, the Group
integrates health data analysis software and healthcare equipment to
provide new healthcare services and products business, which has been
recognized by the industry. The Group also expands its business to trading
of hygiene products to ride on the demand for personal and household
hygiene due to the growing awareness among consumers in the wake
of the COVID-19 pandemic. The Group continues to expand its genetic
testing service both in Hong Kong and overseas. COVID-19 infection
prevention has increased the demand of hygiene and health products.
The Group will continue to extend the health and hygiene product supply
by continuously developing health data analysis products and innovative
medical technology products, and sourcing different types of safe personal
and household hygiene products.
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On the other hand, in order to create value and bring higher returns to
the shareholders of the Company, the Board has been actively exploring
new business opportunities suitable for the Company. During the year, the
Company started to engage in the sales of liquor business to ride on the
potential growth in demand for wine in the PRC associated with a higher
living standard in the PRC. It is expected that this new business segment
will help generate stable cashflows and will be a good opportunity for the
Group to diversify its business and income streams which will ultimately
improve the financial performance and profitability of the Group.

In September 2023, the Group obtained the exclusive sub-licence to use
the trademark and brand of “Diwangchi” (% E ) liquor in the PRC,
and commenced the sales of Maotai-flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi”
brand.

With consumption upgrading and the continued prosperity of the liquor
market, the market for Maotai-flavor liquor has broad prospects. As a
leader in the industry, the Maotai-flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi”
brand is expected to gradually become one of the mainstream brands in
the market with its excellent quality, exquisite brewing technology and

exquisite packaging design.

In terms of quality, the Maotai-flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi” brand
follows family secret brewing, adheres to the pure grain solid-state
fermentation process, and maintains the typical style of “Diwangchi”.
Its excellent quality and innovative marketing model have received
widespread attention from the industry.

With its advantages of high quality, exquisite craftsmanship, innovative
marketing and celebrity effect, the Maotai-flavor liquor under the
“Diwangchi” brand is gradually emerging in the liquor market and is
expected to become an important member of the industry in the future.
In addition, the Group has huge reserve of aged Kunsha base wine which
is the foundation of high quality for production of the Maotai-flavor liquor
under the “Diwangchi” brand, resulting in a strong foundation for the
promotion and sales of the Maotai-flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi”
brand. Therefore, sales of the Maotai-flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi”
brand will become a significant part of the Group’s revenue.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW BHERE
Continuing operations HERERD
Year ended Year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
BEZz-ZE-@m#E BHE-_ZT_-=F
ZRA=t—-H =A=+—H
ILEFE IEFE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FRET TET
Revenue Yz 233,68l 223,853
Cost of sales and services i & K R 75 B R (195,892) (211,804)
Gross profit E 7 37,789 12,049
Bank interest income ;AT BHA I 10
Other income and gains Hfth A R &= 6,450 [,743
Selling, distribution, administrative and ~ $§%& * 285 « 1T &
other expenses H Al X (20,355) (44,799)
Share of result of associates NEBERRZER (15) 228
Profit/(loss) before tax BB AR A (EE) 23,870 (30,709)
Profit/(loss) per share BREF/(E18)
— Basic and diluted (HK cents) — ERREECE) 0.96 (1.71)
Revenue 1§

For the year ended 3| March 2024, the Group recorded a revenue
of approximately HK$233.68 million (year ended 31 March 2023:
approximately HK$223.85 million), representing an increase of
approximately 4.39% as compared with the corresponding period last
year.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group recorded gross profit
of approximately HK$37.79 million (year ended 31 March 2023:
approximately HK$12.05 million). The Group's overall gross profit margin
was 16.17% (year ended 31 March 2023: 5.38%). During the year ended
31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group's overall gross profit was primarily
attributable to the sales of liquor which is with higher gross profit margin.
This year approximately 51.29% of sales generated from sales of liquor
(year ended 31 March 2023: nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The profit for the year ended 31 March 2024 was approximately HK$I5.11
million (year ended 31 March 2023: loss of approximately HK$31.75
million). The profit was mainly attributable to the new sales of liquor
segment, which generated a segment profit of approximately HK$28.04
million and the decrease in administrative and other expenses of
approximately HK$24.51 million.

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 March 2024
was approximately HK0.96 cents (year ended 31 March 2023: basic and
diluted loss per share of approximately HKI.71 cents).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Healthcare products and services business

Over the years, the Group has built up its experience in the operation of
and understanding in the business environment of the healthcare industry
in the PRC and, as such, the healthcare business became an important
contributor to the Group's revenue. Due to the allocation of resources
for the new business of the Group, the segment revenue of the healthcare
business has dropped by approximately 49.13% to HK$!13.78 million as

compared to that of last year.

The Group’s genetic testing business and other health products and
services business are complimentary to each other and create synergy for
the Group's healthcare businesses as a whole. The customers and business
partners of these businesses are local governments, national institutions
and organizations, hospitals and doctors and other overlapping customers,
the Company can expand its sales network and cross-sell products in all
its businesses, thereby achieving economies of scale and enrich customer
structure. For the year ended 31 March 2024, this segment recorded a
turnover of HK$113.78 million (year ended 31 March 2023: HK$223.66
million) and segment loss of HK$3.17 million during the year ended 3|
March 2024 (year ended 31 March 2023: loss HK$16.12 million). The
decrease in segment loss was primarily attributable to the reduction in

revenue generated from healthcare services business during the year.
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Money lending business

The Group currently has a money lender license in Hong Kong under the
Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for
developing its money lending business to generate interest income for
the Group. The gross profit margin generated from the money lending
business has been the highest amongst the principal businesses of the
Group owing to its low cost of funding. However, the money lending
business recorded a loss for the year ended 31 March 2024 because of the
limited interest income owing to the downsize of the loan portfolio.

During the vear ended 31 March 2024, money lending business recorded
a turnover of interest income of HK$0.05 million (year ended 31 March
2023: HK$0.19 million). Gross profit is 100% for both periods since
no cost of finance were required under the money lending business.
The source of funding is primarily from share capital which is a definite
advantage for this business. The segment result covers internal cost
allocation from central management and administrative costs. However,
the money lending business is competitive and challenging and the relevant
compliance work is demanding. The Group will leverage on the existing
clients portfolio and referrals by customers and business associates to
access to new customers and opportunities in money lending business.

The Group's money lending business mainly focuses on short-term
loans, both secured and unsecured, with loan period not exceeding 12
months. Most of the customers are corporate customers. The Group
will charge market interest rate on the loans after taking into account
of the creditworthiness and collaterals of the customers. To cope with
the keen market competition, the Group focuses on existing customers
and leverages on them and their business associates for referral of new
customers. This enables the Group to build up its customers’ portfolio

gradually.
The Group did not grant any new loan during the year ended 31 March

2024. The remaining loan was settled during the year and thus there was
no outstanding loan as at 31 March 2024.
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Before granting loans to potential borrowers, the Group performs credit
assessment process to assess the potential borrowers’ credit quality and
defines the credit limits granted to them. The credit assessment process
encompasses assessment on the financial background of the potential
borrowers, as well as the value and nature of the collaterals to be
pledged. The credit limits of loans successfully granted to the borrowers
are reviewed by the management as part of the ongoing loan monitoring
process.

The Group has a loan approval policy in place which covers information
collection, approval limits, loan approval procedures and loan collection

guidelines as follows:

[ Information collection and verification: documents and information

provided by the loan applicant will be verified;

2. Assessment: credit assessment on the loan applicant will be
performed with reference to the financial background and value of
the collateral provided (if any);

3. Approval: if the loan application is approved, the Group will arrange
preparation and signing of the loan documentations and ensure their
proper execution, including drawdown of the loan amounts by the
applicant; and

4. Collection: will make calls and send reminders to borrower for
overdue loan repayment and when there is a default of loan
repayment, will take appropriate enforcement action, including legal
action, to recover the loan.

Sales of liquor business

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company dated I
August 2023, 13 September 2023, 2| September 2023, 22 November
2023 and 26 January 2024.
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In order to create value and bring higher returns to the shareholders
of the Company, the Board has been actively exploring new business
opportunities suitable for the Company. During the year, the Company
started to engage in the sales of liquor business to ride on the potential
growth in demand for wine in the PRC associated with a higher living
standard in the PRC. It is expected that this new business segment will
help generate stable cashflows and will be a good opportunity for the
Group to diversify its business and income streams which will ultimately
improve the financial performance and profitability of the Group.

In September 2023, the Group obtained the exclusive sub-licence to use
the trademark and brand of “Diwangchi” (% E ) liquor in the PRC,
and commenced the sales of Maotai-flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi”
brand. For the year ended 3| March 2024, this segment recorded a
turnover of HK$119.84 million and a segment profit of HK$28.04 million
during the year ended 31 March 2024.

With consumption upgrading and the continued prosperity of the liquor
market, the market for Maotai-flavor liquor has broad prospects. As a
leader in the industry, the Maotai-flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi”
brand is expected to gradually become one of the mainstream brands in
the market with its excellent quality, exquisite brewing technology and
exquisite packaging design.

In terms of quality, the Maotai-flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi” brand
follows family secret brewing, adheres to the pure grain solid-state
fermentation process, and maintains the typical style of "“Diwangchi”.
lts excellent quality and innovative marketing model have received

widespread attention from the industry.

With its advantages of high quality, exquisite craftsmanship, innovative
marketing and celebrity effect, the Maotai-flavor liquor under the
“Diwangchi” brand is gradually emerging in the liquor market and is
expected to become an important member of the industry in the future.
In addition, the Group has huge reserve of aged Kunsha base wine which
is the foundation of high quality for production of the Maotai-flavor liquor
under the “Diwangchi” brand, resulting in a strong foundation for the
promotion and sales of the Maotai-flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi”
brand. Therefore, sales of the Maotai-flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi”
brand will become a significant part of the Group's revenue.
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EXTRACT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

The following is an extract from audited financial report of the Company
prepared by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited (“ZHONGHUI"), the
auditor of the Company, for the year ended 31 March 2024.

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of King
International Investment Limited (formerly known as Life Healthcare
Group Limited) (the “Company™) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the "Group”) which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including of

material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters described
in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report, the consolidated
financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Qualified Opinion

l.

14

Interest in associates

@)

The Group acquired 30% equity interest in Guangzhou
Manrui Biotech Company Limited (“Manrui Biotech”)
on 5 August 2016. Manrui Biotech specialises in research
and development of genetic testing technologies, and in
particular non-invasive cancer screening and diagnosis.
At the time of the acquisition, there is an agreement
procuring the Group to exclusively utilize Manrui
Biotech's genetic testing and related technologies (without
monetary consideration). The cost of the investment was
approximately HK$65,129,000. The Group obtained a
valuation price allocation of Manrui Biotech on 5 August
2016 and the investment is recorded as interest in an

associate since the acquisition.

Manrui Biotech's genetic testing and related technologies had
not generated any income in its financial statements since
the Group's acquisition, nor contributed to the Group's
revenue. The Group has fully impaired the investment in
Manrui Biotech during the year ended 31 March 2022,

We were unable to obtain the financial information to
support the basis and assumptions adopted in the valuation
of the purchase price allocation of the associate, as well
as in the valuation in the subsequent year end dates which
were used for impairment assessment of the Group's
interests in Manrui Biotech. Such basis and assumptions
included the forecast of Manrui Biotech, the growth rates
and the discount rates adopted in the valuation. As such, the
value of the genetic testing technologies cannot be reliably
determined.
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We have not vet obtained sufficient and appropriate audit
evidence to satisfy ourselves as to whether the balance
of translation reserve of that associate of HK$2,163,000
(Credit) were properly recorded as at 31 March 2024 and
2023.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group
invested RMB30,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$36,990,000) and RMB25,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$30,824,000) in two associates, namely
BENEAG(MLRBREEEARAA and ILREAR
ABERMER DT, respectively. The Group holds 25%
equity interests in each of these two associates. These two
associates engaged in healthcare services in the People's
Republic of China (the “PRC"). We were unable to
perform audit works on the financial statements of the two
associates, specifically arrangement of bank confirmations to
confirm the material bank balances of the associates as at 3|
March 2022.

The two associates were de-registered during the year
ended 31 March 2023 and the Group obtained full refund
of the investment costs of RMB30,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$34,270,000) and RMB25,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$28,558,000) from the two
associates.
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We have not vet obtained sufficient and appropriate audit
evidence to satisfy ourselves as to the gain/(loss) of HK$NIl
on deregistration of the two associates for the year ended
31 March 2023.

Other receivables

Prepayments for healthcare supplies and vehicle remodelling
services

As at 31 March 2023, the Group recorded prepayments for
purchases of approximately HK$98,454,000 to two materials
suppliers (say, suppliers A and B) for purchases of disinfectant
materials, and prepayments of approximately HK$8,081,000 to a
supplier (supplier C) for provision of vehicle remodelling services.

Up to 31 March 2023, the Group has not yet received the
disinfectant materials from both suppliers A & B. In April 2023, the
Group entered into cancellation agreement with Supplier A and
Supplier A was deregistered in the same month. The Group has
requested for full refund of the amounts prepaid of approximately
HK$28,889,000. Up to the date of issuing the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 3| March 2023, the Group received
refund of approximately HK$23,333,000 and the remaining
outstanding balance of approximately HK$5,556,000 were
impaired. We were unable to obtain sufficient and appropriate
audit evidence about the details of the suppliers and the reasons
for the transaction.

For supplier B, up to 31 March 2023, the Group has not yet
received the disinfectant materials from this supplier. We were
unable to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence about
the reason that no products were received, and whether the
prepayments of approximately HK$69,565,000 can be recoverable.
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group received the
disinfectant materials amounted to approximately HK$69,565,000
from Supplier B.
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For supplier C, up to 31 March 2023, no vehicle remodelling
services were received by the Group. We were unable to
obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence that whether
the remodelling services will be carried out as planned, and the
recoverability of the amounts of approximately HK$8,081,000
prepaid. During the year ended 3| March 2024, the Group
disposed of the subsidiary which held the prepayment for the
vehicle remodelling services and recorded a gain on disposal of
approximately HK$2,116,000.

In respect of the abovementioned transactions, we were unable
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence or satisfactory
management explanations to ascertain the nature of the
prepayment of approximately HK$28,889,000 and HK$8,081,000
to Supplier A and Supplier C, respectively as at 31 March 2023.

Equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income

The equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income relates to Beijing Life Healthcare Zhongcheng Medical
Technologies Co, Lid( REN R KB ER K ER 2 7))
(the “Investee”), with principal activities such as research and
development of medical technology innovations of genomics, cell
therapy and their application in the field of human health and
precision medicine. As at 26 June 2020, the Group has entered
into a joint venture agreement pursuant to which the Group has
contributed RMB30,000,000 in the Investee, represented 15% of its
share capital.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, we have not obtained
sufficient financial information of the Investee, which form the basis
for assessing the underlying assumptions and calculation of the fair
value of the Investee. The equity investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income was disposed during the year ended
31 March 2023.

EEENWR DA

BEHERChE BE-S=-_Z=
FZA=+—-H EBEEETE
BRESHUERE - RMEZE
RERNEENEZRE U
TEWMREREEERTER
it A I F8 < 318 £78,081,00008 7T
eLAHE  HE-T-_NF=
A=+—BLEFEE- E£EBH
ER B B H o R TE M A
BAmE - W85 £2,116000% T
f & W E o

RERRZmE  BRABEEZNE
FAOBENBERZREXLSAM
EMNEEERE UEETR-F
T=E=ZRA=t-HoAR#HE
BAREREECHEL 2 EMNFKE
#)28,889,000/8 JT 18,081,000/
TG -

BHEAMEANZZ L FEIE
ZRAERE
EREMEERFZRATEN
ROBRAKRERLRENRKE
BREERAR(HEBRERDAE
BOEIZXBBEREAMEER
MREZSRTBERRITAER
ERANBERRERBEEREL 2
R R-E-_ZEFXA-1+AX
A BEBEVAZL %W
Bt ESERHEREFTE
A K #30,000,0007C © 15 & B A
H)15% o

REE-_E-_—_#=A=1+—H
HFE  BMREENTEHHT
REAUKEN MZFEHE
KB BEEREFRAFEZHBR
ARFAENER FREMZE
WaEAFEIRZBRARER
REE-_ZE-_=F=A=+—H
HEFEEHE o

17



Y

King International Investment Limited

Annual Report 2024

Management Discussion and Analysis
B EEJE-L—J' A & *ﬁ

We were unable to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence
to satisfy ourselves as to whether the fair value loss on equity
investment at fair value through other comprehensive income of
approximately HK$Nil was properly recorded for the year ended
31 March 2023.

Any adjustments to the figures as described above might have a
consequential effect on the Group’s financial performance and
cash flows for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 and the
financial positions of the Group as at 31 March 2023, and the
related disclosures thereof in the consolidated financial statements.

Material Uncertainty Related To Going Concern

The Group had current liabilities of approximately HK$67,652,000,
but the Group only had cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$473,000. Besides, the Group had a net operating cash outflow of
approximately HK$32,319,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024. These
conditions indicate a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.

The Company and the Audit Committee’s View on the Qualified Opinion
of the Independent Auditor’s Report
l. Interest in associates
(@  The full impairment had been made on the investment in
Manrui Biotech, an associate of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

There is no qualification in respect of Manrui Biotech on the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2024 and the consolidated statement of profit or loss for
the year ended 31 March 2024. The qualification on the
balance of translation reserve will be removed upon disposal
of Manrui Biotech and the Company is looking for potential
purchaser to sell its equity interest in Manrui Biotech.
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The Audit Committee concurs to the treatment on Manrui
Biotech.

The two associates were de-registered during the year
ended 31 March 2023 and the Group obtained full refund
of the investment costs of RMB30,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$34,270,000) and RMB25,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$28,558,000) from the two
associates.

The qualification was related to the opening balance
presented under comparative column of the Group's
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023 and
any possible gain/loss on the de-registration of the two
associates for the year ended 31 March 2023 since the
opening balance was qualified. There was no qualification in
respect of these two associates for the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2024 and
2023.

The Audit Committee and the management of the Company
concur to the treatments on the investments in these
two associates. Also, the Company intends to disposal the
investment in Manrui Biotech for the year ending 31 March
2025. The Company will make announcement(s) in respect
of any such disposal in compliance with the requirements
of the Listing Rules where appropriate. It is expected that
there will not be any qualification in respect of the interest
in Manrui Biotech for the year ending 31 March 2025 if
the disposal of the investment in Manrui Biotech will be
executed for the year ending 31 March 2025.
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Other receivable

Prepayments for healthcare supplies and vehicle remodelling
services

The Group has prepaid HK$28,889,000 to Supplier A to purchase
disinfectant products. Subsequently, the Group came across the
Supplier B who is the manufacturer of the disinfectant products we
ordered from Supplier A. Supplier B was able to provide us the
products in cheaper cost with more varieties. In April 2023, the
Group has entered into a cancellation agreement with Supplier A
and requested for the refund of HK$28,889,000. The Group then
made the prepayment of HK$69,565,000 to purchase disinfectant
products from Supplier B.

The Company discussed with the auditor that the Group received
a refund of HK$23,333.000 from Supplier A up to the date of this
report. The remaining balance of HK$5,556,000 was impaired for
year ended 3| March 2023.

There will not be any qualification in respect of the prepayment to
Supplier A for the year ending 31 March 2024.

The Audit Committee and the management of the Company
concur to the treatment on the prepayment to Supplier A.

The Company and the auditor has conducted an interview with
Supplier B and visited its production lines in the factory. A product
delivery instruction has been given to Supplier B in June 2023.
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group received the
disinfectant products from Supplier B.
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There will not be any qualification in respect of the prepayment to
Supplier B for the year ending 31 March 2024 if the products are
delivered as planned.

The Audit Committee and the management of the Company
concur to the treatment on the prepayment to Supplier B.

The Group has acquired 126 new energy vehicles from Supplier
C and planned to carry out vehicle conversion to initiate basic
public health examination program for the elderly which has
been included in the construction of national basic public health
services sponsored by the government. Owing to the outbreak and
prolonged proliferation of COVID-19 pandemic in PRC, the vehicle
registration process of the 126 vehicles had been taken almost one
year. During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group disposed
of the subsidiary which held the prepayment for the vehicle
remodelling services and recorded a gain on the disposal.

There will not be any qualification in respect of the prepayment
to Supplier C for the year ending 31 March 2024 if the vehicle
conversion services are carried out as planned.

The Audit Committee and the management of the Company
concur to the treatment on the prepayment to Supplier C.

It is expected that there will not be any qualification in respect of
the prepayments in relation to the abovementioned suppliers for
the year ending 31 March 2025.

Equity Investment at fair value through comprehensive income

The Group received the consideration of RMB30,000,000 on
disposal of its 5% equity interest in Beijing Life Healthcare
Zhongcheng Medical Technologies Co., Ltd (It REFM R K B &
B BB AE])as at August 2022. The opening balance and the
profit and loss figures is qualified for the year ended 31 March
2022 as presented under the comparative figures of the Group's

profit and loss account for the year ended 31 March 2023.
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The qualification was related to the opening balance presented
under comparative column of the Group's consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2023 and any possible gain/
loss on the disposal of this investment for the year ended 3l
March 2023 since the opening balance was qualified. The was
no qualification in respect of this investment for the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023
and 2024.

The Audit Committee and the management of the Company
concur to the treatment on this investment.

It is expected that there will not be any qualification in respect of
the equity investments at fair value through comprehensive income
the year ending 31 March 2025.

PROSPECTS

Healthcare products and services business

Over the years, the Group has built up its experience in the operation of
and understanding in the business environment of the healthcare industry
in the PRC and, as such, the healthcare business became an important
contributor to the Group's revenue. Due to the allocation of resources
for the new business of the Group, the segment revenue of the healthcare
business has dropped by approximately 49.13% to HK$I13.78 million as
compared to that of last year.

The Group's genetic testing business and other health products and
services business are complimentary to each other and create synergy for
the Group's healthcare businesses as a whole. The customers and business
partners of these businesses are local governments, national institutions
and organizations, hospitals and doctors and other overlapping customers,
the Company can expand its sales network and cross-sell products in all
its businesses, thereby achieving economies of scale and enrich customer
structure. For the year ended 31 March 2024, this segment recorded a
turnover of HK$113.78 million (year ended 31 March 2023: HK$223.66
million) and segment loss of HK$3.17 million during the year ended 3|
March 2024 (year ended 31 March 2023: loss HK$16.12 million). The
decrease in segment loss was primarily attributable to the reduction in
revenue generated from healthcare services business during the year. It is
expected that the revenue generated from healthcare services business
will decrease in the future due to the allocation of resources to the sales
of liquor business.
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Money lending business

During the year ended 31 March 2024, money lending business recorded
a turnover of interest income of HK$0.05 million (year ended 31 March
2023: HK$0.19 million). Gross profit is 100% for both periods since
no cost of finance were required under the money lending business.
The source of funding is primarily from share capital which is a definite
advantage for this business. The segment result covers internal cost
allocation from central management and administrative costs. However,
the money lending business is competitive and challenging and the relevant
compliance work is demanding. The Group will leverage on the existing
clients portfolio and referrals by customers and business associates to
access to new customers and opportunities in money lending business.

Sales of liquor business

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company dated Il
August 2023, 13 September 2023, 2| September 2023, 22 November
2023 and 26 January 2024.

During the year, the Company started to engage in the sales of liquor
business to ride on the potential growth in demand for wine in the PRC
associated with a higher living standard in the PRC. It is expected that
this new business segment will help generate stable cashflows and will be
a good opportunity for the Group to diversify its business and income
streams which will ultimately improve the financial performance and
profitability of the Group.

In September 2023, the Group obtained the exclusive sub-licence to use
the trademark and brand of “Diwangchi” (% E ) liquor in the PRC,
and commenced the sales of Maotai-flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi”
brand. For the year ended 3| March 2024, this segment recorded a
turnover of HK$119.84 million and a segment profit of HK$28.04 million
during the year ended 31 March 2024.

AEEJELTnHE& *ﬁ

BEEHK
BE-ZT-_NE=A=+—HLLEE"
EEEKEEH B W AZEZE0000%5
T(EHE-E-_=F=A=+—HILFE:
190,000 ) - RME BB MW EF T A
100% RRAEEXBBENKER -
BEeRBEETERERA  HUHEEKM
EEE-TEBE -nHEERENRE
B IR RITIRAK AR A ERAC AR o SR -

EEXBRIFAN TRkE  BAH
ARIETERER AEEKERES

BEFHANREFREBBHOER
BRABEXBNHEFLEERE

EEHEER

R AR TH%%_v__iﬂﬂ
+—-B - ZE-=fhAA+=H"
_:inﬂ_+*5\:$::¢+*

AZ+-_BER-_ZT-_mF—-A=+/H
/NI

RER ERAPREEKERE BHE
HEEZKNERENEXN  A2FH
AREEEEEER BEHUTER
DEEENELERTERERE  NAE
BEREBRUMEESTILZRE &
ARAAGE MBRARAFES -

RZBEZ=FNA AEEEERTE
BRERFILIEEEERENER
EEE THRAEEFINIERRD
B HE-_T-_MF=-A=+—ALLF
B WG %£%119,840,0008 T -
MEE-Z-_NEF=A=+—HLEEFE
27 &0 F £28,040,000/8 7T

23



Y

King International Investment Limited

Annual Report 2024

Management Discussion and Analysis
B EEJE-L—J' A & *ﬁ

With consumption upgrading and the continued prosperity of the liquor
market, the market for Maotai-flavor liquor has broad prospects. As a
leader in the industry, the Maotai-flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi”
brand is expected to gradually become one of the mainstream brands in
the market with its excellent quality, exquisite brewing technology and
exquisite packaging design.

In terms of quality, the Maotai-flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi” brand
follows family secret brewing, adheres to the pure grain solid-state
fermentation process, and maintains the typical style of “Diwangchi”.
Its excellent quality and innovative marketing model have received

widespread attention from the industry.

With its advantages of high quality, exquisite craftsmanship, innovative
marketing and celebrity effect, the Maotai-flavor liquor under the
“Diwangchi” brand is gradually emerging in the liquor market and is
expected to become an important member of the industry in the future.
In addition, the Group has huge reserve of aged Kunsha base wine which
is the foundation of high quality for production of the Maotai-flavor liquor
under the

“Diwangchi” brand, resulting in a strong foundation for the

promotion and sales of the Maotai-flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi”
brand. Therefore, sales of the Maotai-flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi”

brand will become a significant part of the Group's revenue.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL ACQUISITION
AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED
COMPANIES

On 18 December 2023, the vendor, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the disposal agreement with the purchaser
pursuant to which the vendor agreed to sell, and the purchaser agreed to
acquire, the 65% equity interest in Beijing Lian He Health Management
Co, Ltd* (t REAREEE AR AR held by the Vendor for a
consideration of RMB23,600,000. For details, please refer to the
Company's announcement dated 22 December 2023.

e For identification purpose only
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PLACING OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL MANDATE
On 3 November 2023, the Company conducted a placing of 160,480,000
new ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each (“Placing Share”) to four individual
placees, at a price of HK$0.06 each to raise a gross proceeds of
approximately HK$9.6 million (the “Placing”). The Placing Shares were
issued under the relevant general mandate granted to the Directors
at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 29 September
2023. The closing price per share of the Company on the Stock Exchange
on 3 November 2023 was HK$0.069. The net price per Placing Share
was approximately HK$0.058. Completion of the Placing took place on
29 November 2023. For further details of the Placing, please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 3 November 2023 and 29
November 2023. As at 3| March 2024, the Company had utilized the
entire net proceeds of approximately HK$9.3 million for the enrichment
of the working capital for the expansion or acquisition of channels for the
sales of Maotai-flavor liquor under the "Diwangchi” (7 E ) brand in the
PRC. The net proceeds from the Placing were used as follows:

Intended uses of

EEENWR DA

RE-RREGEHRNR
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FR0.0678 T 2 B 1% ") 19 & 1@ B & B A
Bt £160,480,0000% & % T {H0.057% T 2
TEAR(EERSG) UEEHRER
TR 4858 #99,600,0008 T ((REEE) -
REROBEARAR-_TE-_=FNA
TTAHBOZREBERAERNEER
HZHE—REERT - ARFROR
—E-=F+-AZHEBSHZKT
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HEFECREUATRE:

Actual use of

proceeds proceeds up to the Unutilised as at the
Intended uses Net proceeds date of this report date of this report
BEXAREAH REAHEEH
R & SE Fr & 5R RBRARE
RERZ RERRZ ERAZ HERH
HK$ HKS$ HKS
BT BT BT
For the expansion or acquisition of channels for the sales
of Maotai-flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi” (% £ 1)
brand in the PRC 9,300,000 9,300,000 -

HRIWBETFEHREFT I IREERRAE
MRE
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SUBSCRIPTION OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL
MANDATE

On 29 November 2023, the Company conducted a subscription of
147,920,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each (“Subscription Share”)
to the three Subscribers at a price of HK$0.065 each to raise a gross
proceeds of approximately HK$9.6 million (the “Subscription”). The
Subscription Shares were issued under the relevant general mandate
granted to the Directors at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 29 September 2023. The closing price per share of the Company
on the Stock Exchange on 29 November 2023 was HK$0.07. The net price
per Subscription Share was approximately HK$0.064. Completion of the
Subscription took place on 12 December 2023. For further details of the
Subscription, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
29 November 2023 and 12 December 2023. As at 31 March 2024, the
Company had utilized the entire net proceeds of approximately HK$9.5
million for the expansion or acquisition of channels for sales of Maotai-
flavor liquor under the “Diwangchi” (% E ) brand in the PRC. The net
proceeds from the Subscription were used as follows:

Intended uses of

BE-REEIBHROG

RZE-_=ZF+—A=-+NH ' KAQH
BEERO0SBE T ZERRA=Z2REA
fic 2% I % 17147,920,000 % & A% @ 80.05
BTz EBER(ABRAE) UEE
P18 2 IE 499,600,000 T ((RBE
B]) RERMBBEARARZZT=_=
FNAZTNARAZBRRBEREM
EERH I BE-—REBEET - AQF
BROR_E-_=F+—H=-+1BxEH
REZETmEAEFRTEL - FRR
BROFELNENABETL  RBEEHE
ER-ZZE-=F+-A+-HEK - &
BRBEH E—SFHE B2HAR
AERA-Z-_=F+—-AZt+hBRK
TR+ RATZHZAM R
T_NF=ZA=+—H KRAEHAH
2 H AT 15 BB F ¥ 499,500,000 7T+ A
hESMELHEEEFI R mEE
EHAEMNRBE -REZEMSHE
FHEERENTRE

Actual use of

proceeds proceeds up to the Unutilised as at the
Intended uses Net proceeds date of this report date of this report
BEXHERY RAHERH
RERE Fr & SR ABRARE
RERZ RERZ BERAR HEFHE
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
For the expansion or acquisition of channels for sales
of Maotai-flavor liquor under the "“Diwangchi” (7 E )
brand in the PRC 9,500,000 9,500,000 -
MRIANBEFEHREF I mEERLQE
MRE
PLEDGE OF ASSETS EEEAHN

As of 31 March 2024, the Group had not pledged any of its assets.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2024, the Group had no significant contingent liabilities.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group recognises most of its revenue and incurs most of the
expenditures in RMB or HK$. The Directors consider that the Group’s
foreign currency exchange risk is insignificant as the majority of the
Group's transactions are denominated in functional currency of each
individual group entity. The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the Group’s management will continue
to monitor foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arises.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group seeks to generate profits in its core businesses through the
efficient employment of treasury activities. Treasury activities, if and
when undertaken by the Group, aims to enhance the Group’s return on
surplus cash and to assist those core businesses to run smoothly. Efficient
management of surplus cash is achieved by conducting short-term treasury

activities when opportunities arise.

All subsidiaries should comply with the Group's treasury objective and
policy. The Group has designated subsidiaries to carry out certain short-
term treasury activities including securities investment, money lending and
fund investment activities. The securities investment, money lending and
fund investment activities will only be conducted after having considered
the actual working capital needs of the Group. Both the treasury activities
and the investment policy are subject to review from time to time.

As the deposit rate offered by licensed bank in Hong Kong is minimal,
the Group will continue, in the ordinary course of business of the
Group, to use its surplus cash to conduct treasury activities if and when

opportunities arise.

AEEJELTnHE& *ﬁ

AREE
R-ZF-_NE=ZA=1t—H FAEEY
BEAINARE -

M B By
AEBZRBORARFELE Z K
DXEENARERETHE - EFR
B EARAEEREIRZHUEEE
BEBZMREESE" &$EIZ%
R AE KR REE AR A

HMBER - AW $%I5@Eﬁ%%
ERNERR  THRERERERY

HERINERR -

EBBE
AEBERENERERLY  BXT
EBRUEBRELGMN AEBETE
KEBE SERAARERHRAESD
R LB FRORBIEFEE - &
CEERSLRRETROERLY
NERRERRHRAT -

FEMBLARERERASEZEHKER
RBE AEBEETHBRRLETE
»RE BERESRBEEDERT
EHEBEY -BHrRE BERE
@&ﬁ%@%%%ﬁ$%lf%%@ﬁ
EBBRNMET - AKEETKRS
EBEHRREHRR -

AR EBFBRITRME 2 FHR X EE
Wﬁﬁﬁl—ﬁﬁﬁL&¢'$EI%
EETHReLARIRERRRGE
TEBEE -

27



A

King International Investment Limited

Annual Report 2024

Management Discussion and Analysis
B EEJE-L—J' A & *ﬁ

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The management and control of the Group's financial and capital
management are centralized at its headquarter in Hong Kong. The Group
adheres to the principle of prudent financial management to minimise
financial and operational risks. The Group mainly relies upon internally
generated funds and proceeds from fund raising activities to finance its
operations and expansion.

As of 31 March 2024, the Group's net current assets were approximately
HK$263.06 million including cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$0.47 million (31 March 2023: net current assets of approximately
HK$215.46 million including cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HKS$17.79 million).

The gearing ratio of the Group, calculated as total borrowings divided by
total share capital reserves was approximately 0.94% as at 31 March 2024
(2023: 1.07%).

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS
As of 31 March 2024, the Group had no capital commitments to acquire
property, plant and equipment (31 March 2023: HK$NIl).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As of 31 March 2024, the Group had I3 full-time employees and O part-
time employee excluding Directors (2023: 13 full-time employees and
| part-time employee). The decrease in the number of employees was
attributed to the marketing strategy to focus on distributor sales. The
Group remunerates its employees based on their performance, working
experience and prevailing market standards. Employee benefits include
medical insurance coverage, mandatory provident fund for Hong Kong
employees, state-managed retirement benefits scheme for PRC employees

and share option scheme.

To provide incentive or rewards to staff, the Company adopted a
share option scheme, particulars of which are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “"Audit Committee”) comprises
of two independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Yang Xilin
(Chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Zheng Yu and Mr. Wang Zhenyu.

The Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 March 2024 have
been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

APPRECIATION

Taking this opportunity, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express
my appreciation to our shareholders for their continuous support and
the Company’s management and employees for their dedication and hard
work.

On behalf of the Board
King International Investment Limited

Wang Mengyao
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Mengyao ("Mr. Wang”), aged 27, is the chairman and the
executive director of the Company. He was the vice president of
Jiangsu Jinyan Fund Management Co., Ltd.* from January 2020 to March
2022. Mr. Wang has acted as and is currently the general manager of
Jiangsu Zhuoding Medical Technology Co., Ltd* since April 2022, and is
responsible for all operations and management matters of such company.
He is currently pursuing a business administration degree at Myongji
University in South Korea. Mr. Wang is experienced in business operations
and management, has in-depth knowledge about finance and medical
technology industries who will be able to provide unique insights regarding
business operations and management to the Board.

Mr. Liu Mingging (“Mr. Liu"), aged 46, is the co-chairman, the chief
executive directors and the executive director of the Company. He was
appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company on 9 August
2023, and an executive Director of the Company on 22 August 2023.
Mr. Liu obtained a Master degree in Economics from Tongji University
in the People's Republic of China in 2005. Mr. Liu has been serving as an
executive director of Kiu Hung International Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 00381) since 27 March 2020.
Mr. Liu has over |5 years of experience in financial and investment related
business and considerable experience in securities and futures, corporate
finance, derivative products and other various financial services.
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Mr. Lu Xing Wu (“Mr. Lu"), aged 63, is the executive director of the
Company, obtained a bachelor degree in Chinese from Yangzhou
University in the PRC. Mr. Lu currently is the president of Hainan Xingyun
Zhiguang Food Technology Limited (BB Z B KR MBI EBRA
), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and is responsible for
the marketing of the brand of “Diwangchi” (7 E ) liquor. He currently
is the Chairman of Lu Xingwu Liquor Hall Brand Management Co., Ltd.
(ERRBEEDEEEBRAA), dean of Lu Xingwu Practitioner
Business School (B B BE &2 Ft), executive vice president and
secretary-general of the Liquor Committee of the Chinese Poetry and
Liquor Culture Association (FEIFFB XL HEBEEEZE), and senior
researcher of Yunjiu China Liquor Brand Research Institute ()8 # B
BEREMAEL). Mr Lu is a legendary wine merchant in the Chinese
wine industry and a master of practical marketing of Chinese liquor. He
has devoted himself to the practice and research of liquor marketing for
more than 20 years and completed the creation and application of the
theories of “360° Liquor Marketing” and “Dealer Profit Model Innovation”.
A large number of channel practical cases have been summarized. These
distinctive, practical and replicable cases are very popular among the

majority of wine dealers.

Mr. Lu is a distinguished professor at several universities and wine
companies, one of the first batch of Sichuan Wine Think Tank experts
specially hired by the Sichuan Provincial Government, and the marketing

consultant of several provincial wine associations.

Mr. Lu has served several well-known wine companies and wine
merchants. He summarized and compiled his more than 20 years of
practical market experience and published the first practical guide
for Chinese alcohol dealers — “Wine is Sold Like This!" (i + A E
& &% B W !) received unanimous praise from the wine industry and
created the myth of wine marketing book sales. His philosophy of selling
wine everywhere influenced the entire wine industry. Mr. Lu has won
“Outstanding Contribution Award for Chinese Wine Merchants 7 Bl ji 7
BEH BB HE" issued by the China Wine Industry Association (F B3)H %
#% &), "Outstanding Businessman in the Pengbai Ten Years Wine Industry
FRETEBERBEER", "Top Ten Operators of Chinese Festive
Products PEIEEEm T KEEH", “"China's Thousand Businessmen
Empowering Business Leaders # B T 75 B, 8% B 2 SR 411" and other titles.
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Mr. Gu Jianguo ("Mr. Gu"), aged 43, is the executive director of the
Company. He was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
the Company on 22 August 2023 and was re-designated as the executive
director of the Company on 19 March 2024. He has over 20 years of
experience in project and administrative management and has extensive
expertise in operation and production of glass and materials related
products. Mr. Gu was the executive Director of Sunlight Technology
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
1950) from 10 December 2021 to 3 March 2023. From 2003 to 2012,
Mr. Gu was an executive deputy general manager of Nanjing Yaopi
Network Technology Co., Limited*** (formerly known as Nanjing Yaopi
Glass Co., Limited***). Since 2014, Mr. Gu has worked as a general
manager at Hongze Hetai Investment Co., Limited*** Mr. Gu completed a
senior management program from the Business School of Nanjing Normal
University.

Mr. Man Wai Lun (“Mr. Man"), aged 5I, is an executive director of the
Company. He obtained his diploma in Business Management from the
School of Continuing Education, Hong Kong Baptist University in April
2003 and obtained a bachelor degree of accountancy from the University
of South Australia in March 2007. Mr. Man was appointed as an executive
Director and a member of the Nomination Committee in January 2019.
Mr. Man has over |6 years of experience in accounting.

Currently, Mr. Man is an executive director of Century Group International
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 2113). He was previously an independent
non-executive director of Elegance Optical International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 907) until 9 February 2024, an independent non-executive
director of Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited (Stock code:
8147) until 29 May 2024 and an independent non-executive director of
Momentum Financial Holdings Limited (Stock code: [152) until 30 April
2024. He was an executive director of China Clean Energy Technology
Group Limited (Stock Code: 2379) until 3 October 2022, an independent
non-executive director of China Trustful Group Limited (Stock code: 8265,
delisted on 12 November 2021) until 9 November 2020 and an executive
director of CT Environmental Group Limited (Stock code: 1363, delisted
on 10 September 2021) until 19 April 2021.
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Mr. Pang Zhen ("Mr. Pang”), aged 48, joined the Company in 6 December
2021 and is an executive director of the Company. He graduated from the
real estate operation and management major of the Department of Civil
Engineering of Anshan Iron and Steel College in July 1998. Mr. Pang has
over 20 years work experience in the real estate industry in PRC, mainly
engaged in the development, sales and leasing activities of proper ties in
PRC since graduation from college in 1998.

Ms. Yan Ming (“Ms. Yan"), aged 43, has over 2| vyears in general
management. She is the executive director of the Company. She was
appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company
on 23 August 2023 and was re-designated as the executive director of
the Company on 19 March 2024. Ms. Yan has worked as the general
manager of Mianyang Heli Medical Health Management Co. Limited* since
November 2005. Ms. Yan obtained a bachelors’ degree in civil engineering
from the Southwest University of Science and Technology*.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Yang Xilin (“Ms. Yang"), aged 37, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, and the chairman of the Audit
Committee of the Company ("Audit Committee”) and a member of
each of the Nomination Committee of the Company (“Nomination
Committee”) with effect from 23 August 2023. She has been appointed
as the chairman of the Remuneration Committee of the Company
("Remuneration Committee”) with effect from 9 March 2024.
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Ms. Yang has over |0 years of experience in accounting and financial
management. Ms. Yang has worked as the Chief Financial Officer of
Hong Kong Petrochemical Co. Limited since July 2023. From July 2022 to
July 2023, Ms. Yang was the Chief Investment Officer of GDH Property
Management Limited. From May 2021 to December 2021, Ms. Yang was
a capital market director of Atlas (China) Limited. From January 2018 to
May 2021, Ms. Yang worked as an investment manager of Times China
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
1233). From December 2015 to January 2018, Ms. Yang worked as a senior
project officer of Shenzhen Qianhai PricewaterhouseCoopers Business
Consulting Services Co. Limited. From October 2012 to October 2015,
Ms. Yang worked as an audit associate of PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong
Tian CPAs Limited Company (Shenzhen). Ms. Yang is a member of the
Institute of the Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. Ms. Yang
obtained a Bachelors’ Degree in Business Administration in Accounting
from the University of Macao, and a Master's Degree in Professional
Accounting and Corporate Governance from the City University of Hong

Kong.

Mr. Lou Tao (“Mr. Lou”), aged 57, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director with effect from 18 December 2023. He obtained
a Bachelor's Degree in international finance from Capital University of
Economics and Business in 1991. He worked at China Ocean Shipping
Company as a financial officer from 1991 to 2000. Mr. Lou has been
the General manager of the Electronics Division of Tibet Huajun

Advertisement Co., Ltd* (T ZEE E S B R 22 7)) since 2001.
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Mr. Zheng Yu ("Mr. Zheng"), aged 45 has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 19 March 2024. He
obtained a bachelor’s degree in law from Nanjing University in June 2004
and has over 20 years of experience in the legal profession. Mr. Zheng
was an independent non-executive Director of Diwang Industrial Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1950)
from 25 January 2022 to 24 January 2024. He obtained the PRC Legal
Professional Qualification Certificate in September 2002 and has been
a practising lawyer since 2003, currently holding the position of senior
partner at Jiangsu Phaedo Law Firm. Mr. Zheng is also an arbitrator on
the panel of the Nanjing Arbitration Commission of the JiangSu (Nanjing)
International Arbitration Centre, an arbitrator on the panel of Taizhou
Arbitration Commission and an arbitrator on the panel of Suining
Arbitration Commission.

Mr. Wang Zhengyu ("Mr. Wang") aged 24, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 19 March 2024. He
is currently pursuing a master’s degree in finance at Queensland University
of Technology and obtained a bachelor's degree in accounting from
Queensland University of Technology in 2021.
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The Board submits their annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in healthcare products and services business, money lending
business and sales of liquor business. Details of the principal activities and
other particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Board considers sales of liquor business is a new and growing field
and intends to strengthen the sales of liquor business segment. Details
of the future development of the Group's business are set out in the
paragraph headed "Prospects” under the section headed “Management

Discussion and Analysis”.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$223.68 million, gross profit of approximately HK$37.79
million, and profit before tax of approximately HK$23.87 million.

The results of the Group for the year ended 3| March 2024 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income on page 95 to 96.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year ended 3| March 2024 are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 99 and note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out in section headed "“Five Year
Financial Summary” on page 184.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the vyear ended 3| March 2024 are set out in note |6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS
Details of the Company’s share capital and share options are set out in
notes 28 and 3! respectively to the consolidated financial statements.
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THE COMPANY AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE’S VIEW
ON THE QUALIFIED OPINION OF THE INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT

The basis for qualified opinion and the Company and the audit
committee’s view are set out on pages 13 to 22 of this report.

STRUCTURED CONTRACTS

In order to streamline the organization structure of the Relevant Business
(as defined below), the group had undergone a re-organization during
the year ended 3| March 202| pursuant to which It REMBFER KA
PR 2 R] (Beijing Life Healthcare Technology Co., Ltd.) (“Beijing Lianhe"),
a 100% owned subsidiary of the Group, has entered into the Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement, the Exclusive Call Option Agreement,
the Power of Attorney and the Share Pledge Agreement on 29 March
2021, which supersede the previous agreements, (together, the “VIE
Agreements” and each a "VIE Agreement”) by and among Beijing Lianhe,
EMUER)BERKARAA (Life Healthcare (Beijing) Co., Ltd.)
(“Life Healthcare”) and the two registered shareholders (namely, Mr. Du
PeilLin and Mr. Ma Lei, both are not connected persons (as defined under
the Listing Rules) of the Company) of Life Healthcare (the “Registered
Shareholders”) who hold all the equity capital of Life Healthcare.

Life Healthcare was established on 22 February 2016 and its principal
activities are provision of genetic testing and health data analysis services
(the “Relevant Business™). Pursuant to the Special Administrative
Measures (Negative List) for Foreign Investment Access (2021) (9N
KREEANFRE R E KB EE E)(Q2021F MR))) issued by National
Development and Reform Commission and Ministry of Commerce of PRC
on 27 December 2021 and would be effected on | January 2022, the
“development and application of human stem cells and genetic diagnosis
therapy technology” is listed as an item forbidden for foreign investment.
By entering into the VIE Agreements, the Group obtained effective
control over Life Healthcare and the right to receive substantially all of
Life Healthcare's economic benefits (the “Contractual Arrangements").
Details of each of the VIE Agreements are set out below.
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Under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement entered into by
Beijing Lianhe and Life Healthcare, Beijing Lianhe shall, within the validity
period of such agreement, provide Life Healthcare and its designated
subsidiaries with comprehensive business support, technical and consulting
services and Life Healthcare shall pay a monthly consulting and service
fee, which shall be equal to the amount of Life Healthcare's monthly total
income deducting the expenses and costs directly incurred thereby. In
addition, Life Healthcare agreed that, without the prior written approval
by Beijing Lianhe, it shall not enter into any transaction which may
materially affect its assets, obligations, rights, or business operations, so
as to ensure the performance of business agreements between both
parties and the payment of each price payable. For those matters related
to business operation and asset disposal, Life Healthcare shall act in
accordance with the instructions and requests by Beijing Lianhe.

Under the Exclusive Call Option Agreement entered into by and among
Beijing Lianhe, Life Healthcare and the Registered Shareholders, the
Registered Shareholders granted an irrevocable option to Beijing Lianhe
and/or other entity or individual as designated by it to acquire all or
any of their equity interests in Life Healthcare, in one or more steps
as determined by Beijing Lianhe in its absolute and sole discretion, to
the extent as permissible under the PRC laws. The agreement shall be
terminated when all equity interests in Life Healthcare have been lawfully
transferred to Beijing Lianhe and/or other entity or individual designated
by Beijing Lianhe. At the time of exercising the option, the transfer price
for the acquisition (the “Transfer Price”) payable by Beijing Lianhe and/or
its designated entity or individual shall be RMBI. If there is any mandatory
requirement with respect to the Transfer Price under PRC laws then
effective, the Transfer Price shall be the minimum price as permitted
under PRC laws. The Registered Shareholders have undertaken and
agreed that, since they have already been reimbursed by Beijing Lianhe and
its affiliated companies, they will refund all Transfer Price to Beijing Lianhe
and/or its designated entity or individual within 10 business days after
they receive the Transfer Price. Further, in the event that Life Healthcare
is in liquidation or bankruptcy, the Registered Shareholders shall ensure
that the residual assets of Life Healthcare (the assets after the payments
for liquidation costs, wages, social insurance premiums and statutory
compensations, taxes owed and debts payable) shall be transferred to
Beijing Lianhe and/or its designated entity or individual at minimum price
as permitted under PRC laws. The asset transfer is nonreciprocal. The
Registered Shareholders have undertaken to ensure that such transfer will
not create any obligation of Beijing Lianhe to the Registered Shareholders
and their creditors or Life Healthcare and its creditors.
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It is further agreed that the Registered Shareholders and Life Healthcare
shall act in accordance with the request of Beijing Lianhe with regard
to the sale, transfer, pledge or disposal through other means of Life
Healthcare's assets, businesses or revenue. Without consent from Beijing
Lianhe, Life Healthcare cannot sell, transfer, pledge or dispose of any
of its assets, business or revenue, nor can it enter into any significant
contracts (defined as those with contract sum of exceeding RMB100,000).
Finally, the Registered Shareholders agreed that they shall appoint persons
designated by Beijing Lianhe as board directors, legal representative and
key management personnel of Life Healthcare.

Under the Power of Attorney entered into by Beijing Lianhe and the
Registered Shareholders, the directors and their successors of Beijing
Lianhe (including a liquidator replacing the directors) shall be authorised to
be the sole proxy and authorised person of the Registered Shareholders
to exercise all shareholder’s rights over Life Healthcare with respect
to all the relevant matters, including but not limited to: 1) to attend
shareholder’s meetings of Life Healthcare; 2) to exercise all shareholder’s
rights and voting rights of the Registered Shareholders as entitled by
the articles of association of Life Healthcare and PRC laws, including
without limitation the transfer, pledge and disposal of all or part of the
equity interest in Life Healthcare; and 3) to appoint and designate the
legal representative (the chairman of the board of directors), directors,
supervisors, chief executive officer and other senior managers of Life
Healthcare.

Under the Share Pledge Agreement entered into by Beijing Lianhe and
the Registered Shareholders, the Registered Shareholders pledged all
their equity interests in Beijing Lianhe to guarantee the performance of (i)
the payment for consulting and service fee of Life Healthcare under the
Exclusive Cooperation Agreement; (ii) the obligations of the Registered
Shareholders under the Exclusive Call Option Agreement; and (iii) the
obligations under the Power of Attorney. Beijing Lianhe shall be entitled to
dispose of the pledged equity where Life Healthcare fails to fully pay for
the consulting and service fee payable under the Exclusive Cooperation
Agreement or violates the obligations under the Exclusive Cooperation
Agreement, Exclusive Call Option Agreement and Power of Attorney. The
equity interests in Life Healthcare shall not be transferred without Beijing
Lianhe's written consent.

Save as disclosed above, there has not been any material change in the
Contractual Arrangements during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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The Group has obtained a legal opinion from a PRC law firm, Jingtian &
Gongcheng on the VIE Agreements according to the Company Law of the
PRC (the "Company Law"), the Contract Law of the PRC (the "Contract
Law”) and other PRC laws, administrative regulations, administrative
rules. Jingtian & Gongcheng has provided its legal opinion that the signing
each of the VIE Agreements is not illegal and each VIE agreement and its
confirmation letter is not in breach of or in default under any PRC laws,
and that each of the VIE Agreements is legally valid and enforceable.
Jingtian & Gongcheng has indicated that it cannot be precluded that the
relevant foreign investment and health authorities’ understanding of the

relevant laws and regulations may different from its above legal opinions.

Life Healthcare has been accounted a 100% owned subsidiary of the
Group for in the condensed consolidated financial statements of the
Group, on the basis that the Group has effective control over Life
Healthcare and the right to receive substantially all of Life Healthcare's
economic benefits. The Board has determined that due to each of the
VIE Agreements, which Jingtian & Gongcheng has advised are legally valid
and enforceable, Beijing Lianhe has existing rights and ability to direct
the relevant activities of Life Healthcare, ie the activities that significantly
affect Life Healthcare's returns. Further, Beijing Lianhe has exposure, or
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with Life Healthcare as
under the Exclusive Cooperation Agreement entered into between Beijing
Lianhe and Life Healthcare, Life Healthcare shall pay a monthly consulting
and service fee equal to the amount of Life Healthcare's monthly total
income after deducting the expenses and costs directly incurred thereby.
The control activities carried out by Beijing Lianhe, and how well it
controls and manages the activities and operations of Life Healthcare, will
directly affect the amount of its returns.

The Board is of the view that healthcare services especially the genetic
testing and health data analysis services market in PRC is expected a new
but growing field. Healthcare products and services segment recorded
revenue and assets of approximately HK$!13.78 million and HK$36.06
million respectively in the year ended 3| March 2024 and has become one
of the most important business segment of the Group.
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Major risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements are summarized
as follows: although Jingtian & Gongcheng had expressed the view that the
entering of each of the Contractual Arrangements is not in contravention
of the relevant PRC laws and regulations, uncertainties however do
exist regarding the interpretation and application of the PRC laws and
regulations. If the PRC government determines that the Contractual
Arrangements do not comply with the applicable laws and regulations of
the PRC or issues further guidelines that impose stricter foreign ownership
requirements in the Relevant Business, the Group's Relevant Business
may be affected. If that happens, the Company will seek other forms
of contractual arrangements if then available to carry out the Relevant
Business.

The Company has implemented the following internal control measures
to safeguard its assets held through the Contractual Arrangements: (i) the
officers of the Company in charge of Life Healthcare will regularly review
the relevant parties’ compliance with the Contractual Arrangements and
other related matters, monitor the development of the Relevant Business
and will report regularly to the Board; (ii) professional parties will be
engaged to assist the Board to handle any specific issues arising from the
Contractual Arrangements; (i) the Company has controlled the board
of directors of Beijing Lianhe, Life Healthcare and its subsidiaries; (iv)
the auditors of the Company will be engaged to provide for the annual
confirmations in compliance with Paragraph 16(c) of the Guidance Letter;
and (v) Life Healthcare will prepare and provide monthly management

accounts and key operating data to the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, none of the VIE Agreements
mentioned above has been unwound as none of the restrictions that led
to the adoption of structured contracts has been removed.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Company has identified principal risks and uncertainties that the
Group faces as a business. These include economic risks, operational risks,
regulatory risks, and financial risks. The Group's business, future results
of operations and prospects could be materially and adversely affected by
those risks and uncertainties.
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The following highlights the principal risks and uncertainties of the Group
and it is not meant to be exhaustive. There may be other risks and
uncertainties which are not known to the Group or which may not be
material now but turn out to be material in the future.

Economic Risks

— A severe or prolonged downturn of the global or PRC economy.

— Negative effect on our operational, financing or investing activities
due to fluctuations in inflation, fluctuations in interest rates and
other measures relating to financial policies in PRC.

Increase in interest rates may have an adverse effect on the money
lending business of the Group as it will increase the cost of funding of
the borrowers and lower the profit margin of their businesses which in
turn will adversely affect their repayment ability of the loans advanced by
the Group. The situation may be worsened in case of a slowdown in the
economic growth of the global or PRC economy due to, for example, the
COVID-19 epidemic. The Group will continue to review its loan portfolio
and trade and other receivables on a regular basis in order to take
appropriate actions on a timely basis.

Operational Risks
—  Failure to compete in the competitive environment which the Group
operates in or to keep up with technological developments.

Healthcare services business has the characteristics of high technological
standard and rapid changes in the development. Failure to catch up
with the technological development may adversely affect the healthcare
services business of the Group. The Group will pay close attention to
relevant technology developments and respond to possible technological
changes in a timely manner.

—  Failure to maintain the quality of the products at high level.

The Group's principal business activity is the manufacturing and sales of
Chinese liquor, whose principal risks include the quality of the products
and the security during production. The Group has taken comprehensive
measures to ensure that both quality and security will meet the industry
standards.

\ FIEBREARAA
2024 £ FERS

Directors’ Report
EEERE

TXRBIRAEERAH IR
MEATREEN  BIFE2EITR - KA
EEEASEAMIARRLEANE
AREBBGERZEMAR R REEML -

LEm R
— E2RFPELEREIFELL -

— BER MNXFHREMETES
BHREBcEBYEE BE
AREERDEXNCAATE -

MEFRHEUARBEZEEXBRER
ARZE  REZME LT HIE &R
ANEBESZRA  TREREESHL
BN - MR E R RE AR H
ERZENBRANTE - MBIRFEF
BEERFUERRESREZRAM
BE BRAGE—FEE - ARER
HETHESHERHARENRES
FEAMBARER ALK REEE
78 -

Eemmk
— AREAKEREMEZHRFR
BHRERGFAERBRER -

RERBXBE2ERTMEASRIZE -
HREHAE ERELSABRMEER
LEHARECRERBEHLRBAAL
MY E AEESTNEIERRME
B REERHAELANRMES -

— AERERRERBERKTE-
AEECEEERRYREENHER
BEB AIBRREBRERMERE

ERZzLZE - AEEDRREENEE -
NER@ERZ2HERTEKE

43



| f}\ ki

King International Investment Limited

Annual Report 2024

Directors’ Report
EEERE

—  Failure to recruit and retain sufficient qualified staff with relevant
experience and expertise in healthcare services business and sales of

liquor business.

Due to the fierce competition of talents in the healthcare industry and
sales of liquor industry, the Group's operation may be affected adversely
if the Group has an insufficient talent pool. A shortage of professional
and sales will affect the Group's operation. Therefore, if the Group fails
to retain suitable talents, the turnover rate being above the acceptable
level may affect the long-term development of the Group. In view of the
above, the Group will properly reduce the corresponding risks by stepping
up its effort in recruitment and establishing the Group’s reputation as
an employer in the human resources market under the premise of taking

certain risks.

Regulatory Risks
—  Failure to adhere to laws, regulations and rules, or to obtain or

maintain all applicable permits and approvals.

— Adverse effects arising from change in laws and regulations affecting

our businesses.

The Group needs to obtain the relevant licence(s) in order to carry
out its healthcare services business in PRC. If the Group fails to renew
the relevant licence(s) or comply with the rules and regulations of the
governing authorities, the operations of its healthcare service business
will be adversely affected. In order to avoid this from happening, the
Group pays close attention to changes in rules and regulations relating to

licencing and changes in policy of the governing authorities.

— Adverse effects arising from change in laws and regulations affecting
the legality and enforceability of each of the VIE agreements.
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PRC laws haven't expressly stipulated the legality of the VIE agreement
between foreign-invested companies and Chinese-funded companies
which carry out items forbidden for foreign investment with China. The
PRC laws still leave uncertainty as to whether foreign investors' controlling
PRC onshore variable interest entities via contractual arrangements
will be recognized as “foreign investment” and thus be subject to the
restrictions/prohibitions on foreign investments. So we cannot assure
you that each of the VIE agreements between Beijing Lianhe and Life
Healthcare can be continuously deemed as legal and enforceable by the
governing authorities in the future. If the VIE agreements are deemed as
illegal, the Group will fail to exercise effective control over Life Healthcare
and receive substantially all of the economic benefits of Life Healthcare.
Besides, the operation of its genetic testing service within China will be
adversely affected.

Financial Risks
—  Details of financial risks are set out in Note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

ENVIRONMENT AND COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The Group is committed to minimising the impact on the environment
from its business activities. As far as the Board is aware, the Group has
complied with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the Group in all material respects.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group recognises the accomplishment of its employees by providing
comprehensive benefit package, career development opportunities and
training appropriate to individual needs. The Group provides a healthy and
safe workplace for all employees. There had not been any cases of strikes
or reports of fatality due to workplace accidents during the year under

review.

The Group encompasses working relationships with suppliers to meet our
customers' needs in an effective and efficient manner.

The Group values the views and opinions of all customers through
various means and channels, to understand customer trends and needs,
and regularly analyses on customer feedbacks. The Group also conducts
comprehensive quality assurance checks to ensure that only quality
products and services are offered to customers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 March 2024.

SHARE OPTIONS

The share option scheme adopted by the Company on 18 September
2012 (“Share Option Scheme 2012") expired on |7 September 2022. At
31 March 2023, the number of shares in respect of which options had been
granted and remained outstanding under the Share Option Scheme 2012
was 86,040,000, representing 8% of the shares of the Company in issue
at that date. The options were granted to consultants of the Company
with details set out below. Please also refer to note 31 of the consolidated
financial statements and the paragraph headed “the Company and the
Audit Committee’s View on the Qualified Opinion of the Independent
Auditor’s Report” in the section headed “Management Discussion and

Analysis” of this report.
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Name or Category of date of this
Participants Date of Grant report  Exercise Period Exercise Price
“E-ME
ZA=+-HR
AXEEEH
MR EMN
SHEEXEZHER R A H BREZE THEHH THEE
(HK$) (HK$)
(&) (&)
(Note) (Note)
(B 3%) (B 3%)
Consultants
B
Dai Kai Fu*
CEIPS 25 Oct 2017 9,560,000  From 25 Oct 2017 to 24 Oct 2027 0.902
—E—+tE+A=1+EAE E-Z—t&+HA-+HAZE
“ZT-t+t4$+AZTHEA
Yang Wei Lan*
BEZ 25 Oct 2017 9,560,000  From 25 Oct 2017 to 24 Oct 2027 0.902
—E—+tE+A=1+EAE E-Z—t&+A-+HAZE
“ZT-t+t4$+AZTHEA
Chen Man Hong*
e 25 Oct 2017 9,560,000  From 25 Oct 2017 to 24 Oct 2027 0.902
—E—+tE+A=1+EAE E-Z—t&+HA-+HAZE
“E-t4¥+AZTHEA
Liang Xiao Li*
23\ 25 Oct 2017 9,560,000  From 25 Oct 2017 to 24 Oct 2027 0.902
—E—+tE+A=1+EAE E-Z—t&+HA-+HAZE
“ZT-t+t4$+AZTHEA
Song Hong Lin*
KRB 25 Oct 2017 9,560,000  From 25 Oct 2017 to 24 Oct 2027 0.902
—E—+tE+A=TEAE E-Z—t&+HA-+HAZE
“ZT-t+t4$+AZTHEA
Liang Zhi Hua*
REL 25 Oct 2017 9,560,000  From 25 Oct 2017 to 24 Oct 2027 0.902
—E—+tE+A=TEAE E-Z—t&+A-+HAZ

—ZZt+F+AZ+WA
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Number

of outstanding
share options
as at 3| March
2024 and the

Name or Category of date of this
Participants Date of Grant report  Exercise Period Exercise Price
—BCmF
ZA=t+-BkK
FHRERM
tef R AT € &9
SREMEZDER RiBH BRERE TEHE THE
(HK$) (HK$)
() B
(Note) (Note)
(Bt &) (B 3E)
Zong Xiao Feng*
N 25 Oct 2017 9,560,000  From 25 Oct 2017 to 24 Oct 2027 0.902
~F-tFTA-1hH B-F—tFtA-+HEE
“RtFTAZTEA
Weng Sheng Hao*
SFEE 25 Oct 2017 9,560,000  From 25 Oct 2017 to 24 Oct 2027 0.902
~F-tFTA-1hH B-F—tF+A-+HEE
“RtFTAZTEA
Sun Dao You*
HER 25 Oct 2017 9,560,000  From 25 Oct 2017 to 24 Oct 2027 0.902
—“F-tFTA-1hH B-F—tF+A-+HEE
“RtFTAZTEA
Total 86,040,000
@5t
Note: After adjustment for share consolidation of 5 shares of HK$0.0l each into | i SREREEIIEBTZROHERNAE
consolidated share of HK$0.05 each effective on 23 September 2020. HERAEEBIRSREBEOSETLZA
Bip  R-B-EBFAAT=RER-
*  For identification purposes only * EHRZF
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The Company adopted a new share option scheme (“Share Option
Scheme 2022") at its annual general meeting held on |2 October 2022
which shall be valid for 10 years from the adoption date.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme 2022 is to provide eligible
participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in
the Company and to encourage eligible participants to work towards
enhancing the value of the Company and its shares for the benefit of the
Company and the shareholders as a whole.

Any employees (whether full-time or part-time), directors (including
executive directors, non-executive directors and independent non-
executive directors) of the Group, and any advisers (professional or
otherwise), consultants, distributors, suppliers, agents, customers,
partners, joint venture partners, promoters or service providers to
the Group (“Non-employee Persons”) who the Board considers, in its
sole discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the growth and
development of the Group may join the Share Option Scheme 2022.

A maximum of 154,202,506 shares, representing 10% of the number of
issued shares of the Company as at the date of approval of the Share
Option Scheme 2022 and as at the date of this report, may be issued
upon exercise of any options granted or to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme 2022.

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon
exercise of any options granted under the Share Option Scheme 2022 and
any other share option schemes of the Company (including both exercised
and outstanding options) to each eligible participant in any [2-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue as of the date of grant.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme 2022 at any time after the date upon which the option is
deemed to be granted and accepted and prior to the expiry of 10 years
from that date. The period during which an option may be exercised will
be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion, save that no option
may be exercised more than 10 vears after it has been granted.
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Upon acceptance of an option, the grantee shall pay HK$1.00 (or an
equivalent amount in RMB) to the Company by way of consideration for
the grant.

The subscription price in respect of any particular option granted under
the Share Option Scheme 2022 shall be such price as the Board in its
absolute discretion shall determine, save that such price will not be less
than the highest of: (i) the official closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets on the date of grant, which
must be a business day; (ii) the average of the official closing prices of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; or (iii) the nominal
value of a share.

No options were granted, exercised, cancelled nor lapsed under the Share
Option Scheme 2022 during the year ended 31 March 2024.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save for the share option scheme of the Company, no equity-linked
agreement that would or might result in the Company issuing shares,
or that requiring the Company to enter into an agreement that would
or might result in the Company issuing shares, was entered into by the
Company during the year ended 31 March 2024 or subsisted at the end of
the year ended 31 March 2024.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Mengyao (Chairman)

(appointed on 9 August 2023, re-designated as Co Chairman
on 28 December 2023 and re-designated as Chairman
on 19 January 2024)

Mr. Liu Mingging (Co-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 22 August 2023,
re-designated as Chairman on 18 December 2023 and
re-designated as Co Chairman on 28 December 2023)

Mr. Lu Xingwu (appointed on 28 December 2023)

Mr. Gu Jianguo (appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director
on 22 August 2023 and re-designated as Executive Director
on 19 March 2024)

Mr. Man Wai Lun

Mr. Pang Zhen

Ms. Yan Ming (appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director
on 23 August 2023 and re-designated as Executive Director
on 19 March 2024)

Mr. Yuan Limin (resigned on 23 August 2023)
Mr. Huang Zhi fang (resigned on 24 July 2023)

Mr. Long Jinbo (appointed on 18 December 2023 and resigned
on 19 March 2024)
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Independent Non-executive Directors
Ms. Yang Xilin (appointed on 23 August 2023)

Mr. Lou Tao (appointed on |8 December 2023)

Mr. Zheng Yu (appointed on |9 March 2024)

Mr. Wang Zhenyu (appointed on |9 March 2024)

Dr. Wang, Bruce Xianliang (resigned on 23 August 2023)
Dr. Zhao, Shawn Xiaohong (resigned on 23 August 2023)

In accordance with Article 83(3) of the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles of Association”), Mr. Lu Xingwu, Mr. Gu Jianguo,
Mr. Lou Tao, Ms. Yan Ming, Mr. Zheng Yu and Mr. Wang Zhenyu shall hold
office until the forthcoming annual general meeting. In accordance with
Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, Mr. Liu Mingging, Mr. Man
Wai Lun and Mr. Pang Zhen will retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. Mr. Liu Mingging, Mr. Lu Xingwu, Mr. Gu Jianguo, Mr. Lou Tao, Mr.
Man Wai Lun, Mr. Pang Zhen, Ms. Yan Ming, Mr. Zheng Yu and Mr. Wang
Zhenyu being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at that meeting.

Each of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a term of service of 2 to 3 years with the Company
and has not entered into a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors is or was interested in any business apart from
the Group's business, that competes or competed or is or was likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business at any
time during the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to and including the
date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

There was no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to
which the Company or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director
or an entity connected with a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted as at 31 March 2024 or at any time during
the year ended 31 March 2024.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2024, none of the Directors and chief executives of
the Company is interested in or has short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFQ")) which were
required under Divisions 7 and 8 of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2024, the following persons (other than a Director or
chief executive of the Company) had interests and short positions of 5%
or more of the issued share capital and underlying shares of the Company
which were recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each of the Company:

FTERRREMALRROKRER
kit EERKXR

R_ZE_MF=A=+—R BRERF
REESRAEROIEDBHEIFELZ
ERELMMmTE WTALT(LHE
ERARATIETRAB)RBARA
EETRARMABRN%IIN L2 #

ST 3K A .
mMEKE

REAFBREBESERLZEERZ
BR:

Number of Approximate

ordinary percentage of

Name of shareholder Capacity shares held shareholding

FEEER R RE B

RRESE /B8 56 ¥ E BAL
Wang Mengyao Beneficial owner

I2E ESBEBAA 444,504,080 24.02%
Wei Yan Beneficial owner

R EGBAA 380,052,611 20.54%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, no other person had
registered an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company which was required to be recorded pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 3| March 2024, there were no connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions between the Group
and its connected persons (as defined under the Listing Rules) which
are subject to the reporting, announcement and the independent
shareholders’ approval requirement under the Listing Rules.

The related party transactions in relation to the compensation of key
management personnel as disclosed in Note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements are connected transactions exempt from reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
pursuant to Rule 14A.95 of the Listing Rules.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group provides a defined contribution retirement scheme under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong
to all Hong Kong staff. Under the MPF Scheme, employer and employees
are each required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the
employees' relevant income, up to a maximum contribution of HK$1,500
(effective from June 2014) per month. The employees of the Group’s
subsidiaries in the PRC are members of a state-managed retirement
benefit scheme operated by the government of the PRC.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the percentage of the Group's revenue
attributable to its largest customer and five largest customers were 14%
and 45% respectively.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the percentage of the Group's
purchases attributable to its largest supplier and five largest suppliers
were 49% and 97%, respectively.

At no time during the year ended 3| March 2024 did a Director, any
close associate of a Director or a shareholder of the Company (which to
the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) have any material interest in any of the Group's five

largest suppliers or customers.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
Save for the VIE Agreements, no contracts concerning the management
and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business

of the Company were entered into or existed during the year ended
31 March 2024.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director and officer shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he may incur or sustain in the
execution of his duties or otherwise in relation thereto.

Such provision was in force during the year ended 31 March 2024. In
addition, the Company has also maintained Directors and officers liability
insurance during the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this

report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company had received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company considered all of the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument of the Directors shall be decided by the Board as
recommended by the Remuneration Committee having regard to a written
remuneration policy (which ensures a clear link of business strategy and a
close alignment with the Shareholders’ interest and current market best
practice). Remuneration should be paid with reference to the Board’s
corporate goals and objectives, the salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities of the executive and non-executive
Directors and applicability of performance based remuneration. The
Director's fees are paid in line with market practice. No individual should
determine his or her own remuneration.
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Employees’ remuneration was determined in accordance with individual's
responsibility, competence and skills, experience and performances as well
as market pay level. Remuneration package includes, as the case may be,
basic salaries, contribution to MPF Scheme, discretionary bonus relating
to financial performance of the Group and individual performance, share
options and other fringe benefits such as medical insurance. Details of the
emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals in the
Group are set out in note |3 to the consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set
out in the Corporate Governance Report from pages 58 to 83.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report,
the Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required under
the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2024 were audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
(“ZHONGHUI"). A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint ZHONGHUI as
auditor of the Company.

By order of the Board
King International Investment Limited

Wang Mengyao
Chairman and Executive Director

28 June 2024
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OVERVIEW

The Company has formulated and maintained a high standard of corporate
governance practices in order to safeguard the interest of shareholders,
employees and other stakeholders of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

This corporate governance report helps the Shareholders to understand
and evaluate the corporate governance practices of the Company.
Appendix Cl to the Listing Rules sets out the principles of good
corporate governance. The Company has adopted the principles and the
code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code (the “"CG Code”)
as set out in Part 2 of Appendix Cl to the Listing Rules as its own code
of corporate governance. The Company has complied with the code
provisions of the CG Code during the year ended 31 March 2024.

The Board will continue to review and recommend such steps as
appropriate in a timely manner in order to comply with the requirements
of the CG Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules as the standard for securities transactions by Directors.
The Company has made specific enquiries of all the Directors and all the
Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required standards
set out in the Model Code and its code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions for the year ended 31 March 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises eleven members, being seven executive
Directors and four independent non-executive Directors. None of the
members of the Board and the chief executive has any relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship)
with each other. The list of Directors is set out in the section headed
“Directors’ Report” and the details of the Directors including their
backgrounds and qualifications are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual
report. The term of service of the Directors with the Company is mainly
2 to 3 years. The Directors have not entered into service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation other than statutory compensation but
is subject to retirement and re-election in accordance with the Articles of
Association.
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Article 83(3) of the articles of association of the Company provides that
any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office until the first general meeting of members after his appointment
and be subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed
by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only
until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election. Accordingly, Mr. Lu Xingwu, Mr. Gu
Jianguo, Mr. Lou Tao, Ms. Yan Ming, Mr. Zheng Yu and Mr. Wang Zhenyu
shall hold office until the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Article 84 of the articles of association of the Company provides that at
each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being
(or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to
but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general
meeting at least once every three years, and that a retiring Director shall
be eligible for re-election. Accordingly, Mr. Liu Mingging, Mr. Man Wai Lun
and Mr. Pang Zhen will retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

Mr. Liu Mingging, Mr. Lu Xingwu, Mr. Gu Jianguo, Mr. Lou Tao, Mr. Man
Wai Lun, Mr. Pang Zhen, Ms. Yan Ming, Mr. Zheng Yu and Mr. Wang
Zhenyu, will offer themselves for re-election pursuant to the articles
of association of the Company. The Nomination Committee has also
recommended to the Board that the above-mentioned Directors are
eligible for re-election, upon evaluating the respective Director against the
selection criteria mentioned above and the independence of Mr. Luo Tao,
Mr. Zheng Yu and Mr. Wang Zhenyu.

The Board assumes responsibility for the leadership and control of the
Company and its members are collectively responsible for promoting the
business of the Company by formulating the Group’s overall strategies
and policies, approving the business plans, evaluating the performance
of the Group in pursuit of the Group's overall strategies and overseeing
the management of the Group. The Board has established three
committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee. During the vear, the Board reviewed
and approved the annual results of the Group for the year ended 3|
March 2023 and interim results of the Group for six months ended 30
September 2023. The management of the Group is responsible for the
day-to-day operations of the Group, and implementing the business
strategies and plans formulated and approved by the Board.
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All Directors have acted in good faith for the best interests of the
Company and the stakeholders of the Company. Other than the statutory
duties imposed on each of them, all of the Directors have exercised
due care in monitoring the corporate matters of the Company and have
provided grave concern, sufficient time and attention to all the significant
issues and affairs of the Group.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an annual
confirmation to the Company concerning his independence pursuant to
the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the independent non-
executive Directors meet the guidelines for assessing independence
as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are independent. The
independent non-executive Directors had been expressly identified as
such in all corporate communications of the Company that disclose the

names of Directors.

The independent non-executive directors represent at least one-
third of the members of the Board. The presence and the views of the
independent non-executive directors provide a strong independent
element on the Board. Major matters are discussed at the Board room
and decided by Directors in Board meetings with the participation of the
independent non-executive directors.

Board Meetings
The number of Board meetings and general meetings attended by each
Director during the year ended 31 March 2024 is set out below:
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Number of Board

meetings attended
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Number of general

meetings attended

HEESS HERRAE
UHES EERY KRB
Mr. Wang Mengyao (Chairman) T8ERE (fﬁ ) 21123 3/3
(appointed on 9 August 2023, (RZZZ_=FNANBEZE
re-designated as Co Chairman RZZEZ=F+-A-T/N\H
on 28 December 2023 and re-designated HEIRBEEIRIN_T_M%F
as Chairman on 19 January 2024) —ATHhBHERTR)
Mr. Liu Mingging ARG E(HETERTHAER) 21721 33
(Co-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (RZZ-=/\A=TZH
(appointed as Chief Executive Officer BZERTHAR
on 22 August 2023, re-designated RZZEZ=F+-RA+/\H
as Chairman on 18 December 2023 and HERFRIR-_Z-=%
re-designated as Co Chairman on TZAZTN\RETABMEERE)
28 December 2023)
Mr. Lu Xingwu EERREE(R-FT_=F 5/5 I/1
(appointed on 28 December 2023) TZAZTN\REZHE)
Mr. Gu Jianguo ERERE(M-Z==4F/N\A 21121 33
(appointed as Independent Non-Executive :JF_ H?%§E7%ﬁjﬁﬁﬂh =
Director on 22 August 2023 and re- —E-ME=R+ A
designated as Executive Director on i T_jci%ﬁl 5%)
19 March 2024)
Mr. Man Wai Lun XEBRLE 24126 33
Mr. Pang Zhen BRERE 25/25 23
Ms. Yan Ming (appointed as Independent ZRLT(RZF==FN\A 2020 33
Non-Executive Director on 23 August 2023 CTCHEZERBUFHITES
and re-designated as Executive Director on TR-ZZ-ME=ATHA
19 March 2024) | Ei%%ﬂhﬁ%)
Mr. Yuan Limin (resigned on 23 August 2023)  RURE£(R-FE-=F 5/6 0/0
/\ H T=H %x f£)
Mr. Huang Zhi fang (resigned on 24 July 2023) FEERZT_=%F 12 0/0
t A-+mA ﬁ?f )
Mr. Long Jinbo (appointed on 18 December EeRAE(RZZZ=F1T2A 6/7 I/l
2023 and resigned on 19 March 2024) TNBEZHETR-_T-_ME
ZAthAE{E)
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Number of Board ~ Number of general
Independent Non-executive Directors meetings attended ~ meetings attended
HEESS HERRAE
BUFHTES EERY KRB
Ms. Yang Xilin BRRRL(R-T_=F 20/20 33
(appointed on 23 August 2023) NAZT=REZHA)
Mr. Lou Tao BELE(R-_Z-=% 717 0/l
(appointed on 18 December 2023) TZATNBREZ{E)
Mr. Zheng Yu BFr4E(R-_Z-MmF 0/0 0/0
(appointed on 19 March 2024) ZRthBEZH)
Mr. Wang Zhenyu IRFEER-_B-_NF 0/0 0/0
(appointed on 19 March 2024) ZRThBEZH)
Dr. Wang, Bruce Xianliang IEREL(R-Z_=F 5/6 0/0
(resigned on 23 August 2023) NAZ+=HEE)
Dr. Zhao, Shawn Xiaohong HERABT(R-Z-=% 5/6 0/0
(resigned on 23 August 2023) NAZ+=HEE)

The Board has reviewed the contribution required from each Director EE2ERIZEERETHEHALNT
to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company and is satisfied that ZBEFEFELNER YERBES
each Director has been spending sufficient time in performing hislher ERBEZZT-_ME=A=+—HItHF
responsibilities during the year ended 31 March 2024. ERARAER BITHBE
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Save for regular Board meetings held during the year ended 3| March
2024, meetings of the Directors were held to discuss and transact other
special businesses. Proper notice of meetings was sent to the Directors.
The Board members are provided with appropriate and sufficient
information in a timely manner to keep abreast of the Group's latest
developments. The Directors have access to the advice and services of
the company secretary. All businesses transacted at the Board meetings
are properly documented and recorded in minutes with draft and final
versions being circulated to the Directors for their comment and records
respectively, within reasonable time after the meetings are held. Originals
of such minutes, being kept by the company secretary, are open for
inspection upon reasonable notice by any Director.

If a substantial shareholder or a Director has conflict of interest in a
matter to be considered by the Board which the Board has determined
to be material, the matter will be dealt with by a physical Board meeting
rather than a written resolution. The relevant Director will abstain from
voting on the relevant Board resolution in which he/she or any of his/
her associates has a material interest and he/she shall not be counted in
the quorum present at such Board meeting. Independent non-executive
Directors who, and whose close associates, have no material interest in

the transaction will be present at that Board meeting.
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Terms of Reference of the Board

In respect of the corporate governance functions, the Board formulated
their terms of reference and performed the following corporate
governance duties during the year ended 31 March 2024:

*  To develop and review the Company's policies and practices on

corporate governance;

*  To review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

*  To review and monitor the Company's policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

*  To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to directors and employees; and

*  To review the Company's compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Wang Mengyao is the chairman of the Company and Mr. Liu Mingging
is the co-chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company. Please
refer to the paragraph headed "“Corporate Governance Practices” in this
section.
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Delegation to the Management RETEHRE

The management is led by the chairman and the chief executive officer ERENHIFRITHAREE TR
who have been delegated to carry out the day-to-day management and  HEETASEWNB AR ZATERER
operation of the subsidiaries of Group, formulate business policies and ZE HEXBER IRTIEXRKS
make decision on key business issues. The general manager shall have all ~BEH AT - BLBEEEEES 21—

powers and authorities of the Board except the following major matters: DENREE HETHIEEFEBKRIM:
«  determining the Group’s objectives and strategies; - EEAEBEZEERER:
. approving annual and interim results and financial reporting; J HEFERTHEEARMN K&
H .
=

» declaring or recommending payment of dividends or other ¢ ERZIEBZEKNBREXEMDIK:
distributions;

+  approving major changes that require notification by announcement ¢ HAEBRE ETHRAUBUAREER
under the Listing Rules; EHBACERED:

«  approving publication of the announcement for notifiable « HAEFBELHHRAUBTZETA

transactions under the Listing Rules; MRPZNE:
«  approving non-exempt connected transactions; . BEFHREBERS

approving major capital restructuring and issue of new securities of +  BAERABZFEEAREH R

the Company; and BHEET R
. material transactions. . BARS o

65



i o

King International Investment Limited

Annual Report 2024

Corporate Governance Report
TEERBRE

TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

Each newly appointed Director receives a comprehensive and formal
induction to ensure that he/she has an appropriate understanding of (i)
the business and operations of the Group; (ii) his/her responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements;
(iii) the corporate governance code of the Company; and (iv) the Model
Code. The Directors may seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses in order to assist
them to perform their duties to the Company.

Directors are continually updated on developments in the statutory and
regulatory regime and the business environment to facilitate the discharge
of their responsibilities. Continuing briefing and professional development
for Directors will be arranged at the expenses of the Company whenever
necessary. The Directors are committed to complying with code provision
C.14 of the CG Code on Directors' training. All Directors have been
updated on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance
practices. The Directors have participated in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills for the
year ended 31 March 2024 to the Company. Our Directors have attended
training sessions conducted by our legal advisers as to Hong Kong laws
on the ongoing obligations and duties of a director of a company whose
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ INSURANCE
The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
potential legal actions against its Directors.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company's policy and structure
for all remuneration of Directors and members of the senior management
of the Company and to determine the specific remuneration packages of
all executive Directors and members of the senior management of the
Company. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have
been posted on the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company,
respectively.

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by an independent non-
executive Director. The Remuneration Committee comprised of one
executive Director and two independent non-executive Directors for the
year ended 3| March 2024 as at the date of this report.

The Remuneration Committee held 7 meetings during the year ended
31 March 2024. Details of the attendance of the committee members are
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as follows: KEZEREHFBOT:
Committee Members Attendance ZEEWE %
Ms. Yang Xilin (Chairman) 4/4 BEMZL(EE)(R 4/4
(appointed on 23 August 2023 and re-designated “E-=F#NA=+=H
as Chairman on |9 March 2024) BEZEIR_ZT_NF
ZRTABRARRER)
Mr. Zheng Yu (appointed on 19 March 2024) 0/0 BFEE(R_T_MF 0/0
=AtNBEZHE)
Mr. Gu Jianguo (appointed on 22 August 2023) 5/5 BEREAE(RZZ-=F 5/5
NE-+-HEZH)
Ms. Yan Ming (appointed on 23 August 2023 and 4/4 AT (R_T_=F 4/4
resigned on 19 March 2024) NAZ+=REZ#E
WRZEZMF
ZRTABEE)
Dr. Wang, Bruce Xianliang (resigned on 23 August 2023) 212 FTERBET(RZ-ZT_=F 212
NAZ+=ZB&T)
Dr. Zhao, Shawn Xiaohong (resigned on 23 August 2023) 212 HERBET(RZTZ=F 212

NAZ+=R#E{)
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The major work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the
year ended 3| March 2024 included, amongst other things, the following:

g reviewing the remuneration policy for Directors and senior
management and making recommendation to the Board;

. making recommendations on the remuneration packages of the non-
executive directors (including independent non-executive directors); and

. reviewing and determining the remuneration packages of the
executive Directors and members of the senior management.

REMUNERATION POLICY OF THE DIRECTORS

The remuneration of Directors is determined by the Remuneration
Committee having regard to the performance of individuals and
market trends. The Company also adopted a share option scheme on
|2 October 2022 for the primary propose of providing incentives to any
Directors and employees of the Group and any advisors, consultants,
distributors, suppliers, agents, customers, partners, joint venture partners,
promoters or service providers to the Group who the Board considers, in
its sole discretion, have contributed or shall contribute to the Group.

The remuneration of the Directors by band for the year ended 31 March
2024 is set out below:
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Number of
Remuneration band persons ¥ B & = AE
Not more than HK$1,000,000 15 N #1,000,0007 7T 15

HK$1,000,001-HK$1,800,000 |

The remuneration of the senior management of the Company (including
|6 Directors) by band for the year ended 31 March 2024 is set out below:

1,000,001 7t 1,800,000/ 7T |
AR eRERE(PEICGESR)HE
CE_NMF=ZRA=T-HUEFEREGE
ElnzFHMESMT

Number of
Remuneration band persons ¥ M & = AB
Not more than HK$1,000,000 |5 881,000,000 T |5

HK$1,000,001-HK$1,800,000 |

Particulars regarding Directors' remuneration and the five highest paid
employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix D2 to
the Listing Rules are set out in notes |3 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are to review
the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board on a regular basis and make recommendations
to the Board regarding any proposed change and to review the board
diversity policy of the Company and review the measurable objectives
that the Board has set for implementing such policy and the progress
on achieving the objectives and appointment of directors and senior
management and succession planning for Directors. The terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee have been posted on the website of the
Stock Exchange and the Company, respectively.

The Nomination Committee is chaired by an independent non-executive
Director. The Nomination Committee comprised of one executive
Director and two independent non-executive Directors for the year
ended 3| March 2024, and one executive Director and one independent

non-executive Director as at the date of this report.
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The Nomination Committee held 7 meetings during the year ended REZEBEERHE_ZT_MF=HA
31 March 2024. Details of the attendance of the committee members are =+ —HIEFERT/IREZE - ZEE
as follows: KEZHEBEFERT:
Committee Members Attendance ZEEHE R ®
Mr. Zheng Yu (Chairman) 0/0 BFEE(FE)N(R 0/0
(appointed on 19 March 2024) —E_NE=ZRTAA
EZ)
Ms. Yang Xilin (appointed on 23 August 2023) 4/4 BEMZT(RZZT_= 4/4
NARZ+=REZF)
Mr. Man Wai Lun 5/7 XEBEE 5/7
Mr. Gu Jianguo (appointed on 22 August 2023 and 5/5 BERBETHE(R-_T_=F 5/5
resigned on 19 March 2024) NAZ+ZREZ#E
TR=ZF-WEF
=ZA+hBEE)
Dr. Wang, Bruce Xianliang (resigned on 23 August 2023) 22 FTERBET(RZT_=F 212

NAZ+=R#E{)
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The major work performed by the Nomination Committee during the
year ended 3| March 2024 included, amongst other things, the following:

. reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board;

. reviewing the board diversity policy;

g considering and making recommendations to the Board for the
appointment of Directors and management;

g considering the re-election of Directors at the annual general
meeting of the Company held in September 2023; and

e reviewing and assessing the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors.

Board Diversity

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) on 30 August 2013 which sets out its approach to achieve
diversity on the Board to ensure that the Board has the appropriate
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to
the requirements of the Company’s business with a view to achieving a

sustainable and balanced development of the Company.

The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration
of a number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The Company will also take into account
factors based on its own business model and specific needs from time
to time. Given the nature of the business of the Group, the Company
considers that it is beneficial for the Board to have some members with
experience and knowledge in the healthcare and liquor sectors.
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The Board recognises the benefits of gender diversity and considers that
gender diversity may bring more diversified views at Board level, gender
is not the only factor to be taken into account in considering appointment
to the Board. Appointment is made on merits after considering a number
of factors including the educational background, professional experience,
skills and knowledge of the candidate. Hence, the Board does not set
any particular targets on the number of female representation at the
Board. The Board and the Nomination Committee will closely monitor
and review from time to time the composition of the Board and will
take into account the board diversity policy including gender diversity in
considering appointment to the Board with an aim to introducing female
representation at the Board. As at 31 March 2024, the Board currently
has two female Directors out of eleven Directors, achieving the gender
diversity of the Board at approximately 18.2%. The Company has not set
any objectives for gender ratio in workforce or in senior management.
Appointment is primarily made on merits of the candidate after
considering a number of factors including the educational background,
professional experience, skills and knowledge of the candidate.

Nomination Policy

The Company had adopted a written Nomination Policy of the Group
which aims at assisting the Nomination Committee in identifying and
nominating suitable candidates for directorship based on the Board
Diversity Policy and sets out the nomination criteria and the nomination
procedures for (i) nominating new Director to fill a casual vacancy on
the Board; (ii) making recommendation to Shareholders regarding any
Director proposed for election or re-election at general meeting; and (iii)
nomination by Shareholders on election of new Director.

The Nomination Committee identifies candidates for directorship from
various channels, including but not limited to internal promotion and
referral by management. The Nomination Committee may also receive
nomination of candidates for election as Director(s) from shareholder(s).
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After the candidates are identified, the Nomination Committee will
consider the biographical information of the candidates and evaluate the
candidates based on the following criteria and make recommendation to
the Board accordingly:

—  character and integrity of the candidate;

—  educational background, qualifications (including professional
qualifications), knowledge and experience of the candidate which are
relevant to the business and operation of the Group;

—  time commitment of the candidate to the Group, taking into
consideration the other duties of the candidates; and

—  the board diversity policy of the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to review
the relationship with the auditors of the Company; review the financial
information of the Group and oversee the Group's financial reporting
system, internal control procedures and risk management system. The
terms of reference of the Audit Committee has been amended and re-
adopted by the Board on | April 2016 to include the risk management
function, and the same has been published on the website of the Stock
Exchange and the Company, respectively.

The Audit Committee comprised of three independent non-executive
Directors and a member of the Audit Committee has the appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise for the year ended 31 March 2024 as at the date of this report.
Please refer to the paragraph headed “Independent Non-executive
Directors” in this section.
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The Audit Committee held 3 meetings during the year ended 3| March ERZEERBE_T_MNEFE=A
2024. Details of the attendance of the committee members are as follows: ST-BLEFEREMRAEH% %8¢
KEZEEFBERT:
Committee Members Attendance ZEEHE i ®
Ms. Yang Xilin (Chairman) 212 BRI (FE) (R 212
(appointed on 23 August 2023) TE-=FENAZT=H
BEZE)
Mr. Zheng Yu (appointed on 19 March 2024) 0/0 BFLE(R-_T-_MNF 0/0
ZATHhBEZMA)
Mr. Wang Zhenyu (appointed on 19 March 2024) 0/0 FRFEE(R-T-_MNEF 0/0
ZATHhBEZMA)
Mr. Gu Jianguo (appointed on 22 August 2023 and 212 BEERLTER-S-_=F 2/2
resigned on 19 March 2024) NAZ+-HEZE
TRZFZWF
=ATNHEE)
Dr. Wang, Bruce Xianliang (resigned on 23 August 2023) I/1 IEREL(R=ZE==F I/
NAZ+=ZBEA)
Dr. Zhao, Shawn Xiaohong (resigned on 23 August 2023) I/1 HELZBLI(R-Z-=F I/

NAZ+=BEF)

The major work performed by the Audit Committee during the year ERZEBEERBE_T_MF=H

ended 31 March 2024 included, amongst other things, the following: St RLEFEERTZEIEIEESE
RUAT&®E:

«  reviewing the annual results of the Group for the financial year +« BHEASEHE_T-_=F=-H
ended 31 March 2023 with the conclusion that the preparations ST-HEVREECFEEE
of such results have been complied with the applicable accounting RRRERFBEZREIAFS
standards; EREHERZRE:

*  reviewing the interim results of the Group for the six months ended - EFEHAEEABZE_Z_=FNA
30 September 2023; STHERBERZRHES:

. revie